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WITNESS IDENTIFICATION 1 

Q. What is your name and business address? 2 

A. My name is Matt Smith.  My business address is 527 E. Capitol Avenue, Springfield, 3 

IL. 4 

Q. By whom are you employed and in what capacity? 5 

A. I am employed by the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) as a Pipeline 6 

Safety Analyst II in the Pipeline Safety Program (“PSP”) in the Safety and Reliability 7 

Division.  In my current position, I perform audits and inspections for the 8 

Commission’s PSP, which ensures that natural gas system operators in Illinois are 9 

meeting minimum federal safety standards prescribed by 49 Code of Federal 10 

Regulations (“C.F.R.”) Parts 191, 192, 193, and 199, and by the Illinois Gas Pipeline 11 

Safety Act (“Illinois Act”).1 12 

Q. Please describe your education and experience? 13 

A. I received a B.A. from the University of Illinois at Springfield in Legal Studies in 2001.  14 

Prior to my employment with the Commission, I held the position of Journeyman 15 

Welder with Ameren Illinois Company.  My duties included construction activities, 16 

welding, emergency response, and various other duties.  All duties and activities that 17 

I conducted were done in a manner consistent with company, state, and federal 18 

requirements.  Since accepting my position at the Commission, I have received 19 

extensive technical training at the Pipeline Hazardous Material Safety Administration 20 

Training and Qualification Division (“T&Q”) in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, which is 21 

where state and federal pipeline safety inspectors receive technical education 22 

1  220 ILCS 20/1, et seq. 
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relating to the enforcement and interpretation of pipeline safety standards.  My 23 

training at T&Q has included subjects such as Introduction to Part 192; Pipeline 24 

Safety Regulation; Application and Compliance; Natural Gas Odorization; Joining of 25 

Pipeline Materials; Incident Investigation; Pipeline Integrity Management; Operator 26 

Qualification; Pipeline Corrosion Control; Pressure Regulation and Overpressure 27 

Protection; and various other technical aspects of natural gas pipeline operations.  I 28 

have worked as a Pipeline Safety Analyst for the Commission for 6 years as of July 29 

2, 2013, and have a total of 21 years experience in the natural gas transportation 30 

industry. 31 

PURPOSE OF TESTIMONY 32 

Q. What is the purpose of this proceeding? 33 

The purpose of my testimony is to present Commission Staff’s (“Staff”) position that  34 

Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company (“PGL”) failed to comply with specified 35 

minimum federal safety standards for transportation of natural gas incorporated by 36 

Part 590.  I performed an investigation of a reported incident at 9010 S. Normal 37 

Avenue, Chicago, Illinois, for PGL and created, or participated in creating reports, 38 

about that investigation, including the Staff Report filed on March 20, 2013, which 39 

led to the initiating order in this proceeding.  40 

REGULATORY AND ENFORCEMENT PROVISIONS 41 

Q. What authority or jurisdiction does the ICC have in this matter? 42 

A. I am not an attorney, but it is my understanding that, through the enactment of the 43 

Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act (“Federal Act”), enacted as Public Law 90-481, 44 

Congress mandated gas pipeline safety regulation by the United States Department 45 
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of Transportation (“USDOT”) in 1968.  The Federal Act provided for state pipeline 46 

safety regulation in states certified by USDOT.  In 1969, the Illinois General 47 

Assembly enacted the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act,2 enacted as Public Act 76-48 

1288 (“Illinois Act”).  Subsection 3(a) of the Illinois Act3 charged the Commission 49 

with adopting rules that are at least as inclusive and as stringent as the pipeline 50 

safety regulations adopted by the United States Secretary of Transportation, and 51 

required the Commission to seek federal certification to regulate pipeline safety 52 

within Illinois.  Section 9 of the Illinois Act4 required the Commission to prepare and 53 

file with the Secretary of Transportation the initial and annual certification and report 54 

required by Subsection 5(a) of the Federal Act.  The Commission has maintained 55 

certification since the 1970s, under rules codified at 83 Ill. Adm. Code § 590.10, et 56 

seq.  Finally, the federal standards codified under 49 C.F.R. Parts 191, 192, 193, 57 

and 199 have been adopted by the Commission pursuant to 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590, 58 

as required to maintain the Commission’s authority for enforcement of the Minimum 59 

Federal Safety Standards granted to the Commission under an agreement pursuant 60 

to Section 5 of the Federal Act5 with the U.S. Department of Transportation Office of 61 

Pipeline Safety. 62 

COMPLIANCE RELATED ISSUES 63 

Q. Please describe the compliance-related issues that initiated this proceeding. 64 

2  Id. 

3  220 ILCS 20/3. 

4  220 ILCS 20/9. 

5  49 U.S.C.A. § 60105 (West 2012). 
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A. Staff conducted an investigation of an incident reported on July 23, 2012 at 9010 S. 65 

Normal Avenue, Chicago, Illinois.  Staff requested further documents post 66 

investigation, and the documents were received and reviewed.  The final 67 

investigation performed by Staff establishes that PGL failed to properly take 68 

appropriate and immediate action to discontinue the flow of natural gas to the 9010 69 

S. Normal structure after receiving information that the inactive gas meter was once 70 

again active when the reactivation was not performed by PGL. 71 

Q. What in general did the July 23, 2012 incident report indicate? 72 

A. That there had been a house explosion at 9010 S. Normal Avenue, Chicago, Illinois. 73 

Q. Were you assigned to investigate the house explosion at 9010 S. Normal 74 

Avenue on July 23, 2012? 75 

A. Yes.  Darin Burk, Pipeline Safety Manager, requested that I respond to the incident 76 

site and conduct an investigation. 77 

Q. What were the findings of your investigation? 78 

A. My investigation determined that PGL’s natural gas facilities, including gas service 79 

lines and gas mains, outside of the residence at 9010 S. Normal Avenue were intact 80 

and not leaking at the time of the incident.  The City of Chicago Fire Marshall report 81 

indicated that an individual was in the process of removing scrap pipe, including 82 

customer gas piping, from the basement of the residence and, while doing so, lit a 83 

cigarette, which was the ignition source for the house explosion.  PGL’s inside gas 84 

facility, specifically a shut-off valve located on the utility’s side of the meter inside the 85 

building, was in the open position at the time of the house explosion, even though 86 

that shut-off valve had been previously closed and locked by PGL personnel on May 87 
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10, 2010.  The inside shut-off valve is used to control the flow of gas through the gas 88 

meter and into the customer’s gas piping inside the residence.    89 

Q. Were various tests conducted on PGL’s facilities on July 23, 2012? 90 

A. Yes.  Prior to my arrival at the incident site, PGL personnel conducted various leak 91 

detection surveys to determine the integrity of their facilities at and near 9010 S. 92 

Normal Avenue.  Upon my arrival, I observed a pressure test of the natural gas 93 

service to 9010 S. Normal Avenue from the gas main to a location near the outside 94 

of the outer wall of the residence.   95 

Q. What tests were conducted by PGL prior to your arrival? 96 

A. PGL conducted a leak detection survey of the area, including 9010 S. Normal Ave.  97 

Air samples were taken in the vicinity of the gas mains and services to determine if 98 

the pipelines were leaking natural gas.  Sanitary sewer lines were inspected for the 99 

presence of natural gas.  An odor intensity test was obtained at a location near the 100 

incident site to determine the amount of odorant present in the natural gas system.  101 

Q. Was the gas service pressure tested to the shut off valve inside the 102 

residence? 103 

A. No.  104 

Q. Why wasn’t the gas service pressure tested to the shut off valve inside the 105 

residence? 106 

A. The City of Chicago would not allow PGL access to the inside of the residence due 107 

to damage to the residence.  PGL was allowed to excavate and disconnect the gas 108 

service at a location outside, but near the outer wall, of the residence and the 109 

pressure test was applied to the section of pipeline between the disconnection point 110 
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and the main.  The pipeline remaining between the disconnection point and the 111 

residential meter inside 9010 S. Normal was not pressure tested. 112 

Q. Were there any concerns discovered during the inspections conducted by 113 

PGL? 114 

A. No.   115 

Q. Were additional records requested from PGL regarding this explosion? 116 

A. Yes.  I requested information about the gas main, service, and the operating 117 

pressure of the gas system at the time of the explosion, among other various 118 

pipeline records. 119 

Q. Were there any concerns with the additional records provided by PGL? 120 

A. No.  The information did not indicate any areas of concern. 121 

Q. During the investigation, did you determine if the gas service to the residence 122 

at 9010 S. Normal Avenue was active? 123 

A. On July 23, 2012, as part of my investigation, I discovered the inside meter set at 124 

this location contained a locking device that apparently was installed on May 10, 125 

2010, but during my investigation on July 23rd I observed that the lock was 126 

damaged,6 and the valve at the gas meter was in the open position. 127 

Q. Why was the meter valve in the open position? 128 

A. I was informed by PGL that the meter valve was turned to the closed position and a 129 

lock inserted to prevent unauthorized access of the meter valve on May 10, 2010, by 130 

a PGL employee.  I was informed on July 23, 2012, that the locking device was 131 

damaged and discovered near the gas meter.  PGL did not have a corresponding 132 

6 Staff Exhibit 1.0, Attachment 1. 
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order to reconnect the gas service.  Therefore, the gas service had been restarted 133 

by someone other than a PGL employee.  A photograph of the damaged locking 134 

device is attached to my testimony. 135 

Q. Did you inquire further about when the gas service was restarted? 136 

A. Yes.  September 26, 2012, I sent a letter requesting further information to Barbara 137 

Baran, PGL General Counsel, to inquire as to the actions taken by PGL when gas 138 

usage was indicated on the meter at 9010 S. Normal Avenue from January 26, 2011 139 

to July 27, 2011.  The letter was returned as undeliverable.  On October 29, 2012, I 140 

sent an email to Ms. Baran with a copy of the original letter.  In the letter, I asked 141 

about those two dates because I had been advised by PGL that gas usage at 9010 142 

S. Normal was detected between, but not prior to or after, those two dates.7  143 

Q. What information did you receive? 144 

A. I received a data request response from Thomas J. Webb, PGL Compliance 145 

Manager.  That response included a sequence of events describing the actions 146 

taken by PGL in regards to discontinuing gas service to 9010 S. Normal Avenue.  147 

The sequence of events included the actions taken by PGL up to and including the 148 

day of the house explosion.8   149 

Q. When did PGL disconnect the gas service at 9010 S. Normal Avenue? 150 

On May 10, 2010, PGL disconnected the gas service by turning the meter valve to 151 

the closed position and inserting a locking device in the meter valve located inside 152 

the residence.   153 

7 Staff Exhibit 1.0, Attachment 2. 

8 Staff Exhibit 1.0, Attachment 3. 
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Q. Why was service terminated? 154 

A. The service was terminated due to the customer’s failure to pay for natural gas 155 

service. 156 

Q. When did PGL first discover usage on the customer’s gas meter after May 10, 157 

2010? 158 

A. Usage was first identified on November 23, 2010. 159 

Q. How was that usage identified? 160 

A. PGL utilizes Automated Meter Reading (“AMR”).  AMR consists of installing a device 161 

on the gas meter index.  A gas meter index includes dials, which point to 162 

corresponding numbers, indicating the amount of gas used, and sends a signal to a 163 

remote receiving device; the transmitted signal includes the current reading.  PGL 164 

uses a vehicle that contains the equipment to capture the remote meter reading.  165 

The vehicle traverses through the streets of Chicago capturing meter readings from 166 

meters that contain the AMR features.  In this case, the PGL vehicle was driven past 167 

the residence on November 23, 2010, and captured the reading from the gas meter.   168 

Q. What were the gas meter readings on May 10, 2010 and on November 23, 169 

2010? 170 

A. The gas meter reading on May 10, 2010 was 1963 hundred cubic feet (“CCF”), and 171 

on November 23, 2010 the reading was 2008 CCF. 172 

Q. What actions did PGL take after discovering usage on a meter that was 173 

previously discontinued and locked? 174 

A. On December 28, 2010, PGL generated a Meter Maintenance Cut Off order to 175 

disconnect gas for unauthorized usage.  In addition, a letter was sent to this 176 
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residence encouraging the occupant to contact PGL immediately to avoid 177 

disconnection of service. 178 

Q. Did PGL disconnect the gas service with this cut off order? 179 

A. No.  The order generated was open dated, and it appears that no further action was 180 

taken beyond generating the order and sending the letter. 181 

Q. What is meant by the order was open dated? 182 

A. The order did not contain a date by which the order was required to be completed.  183 

Instead, PGL personnel could decide when to complete the order and disconnect the 184 

gas service. 185 

Q. Had gas meter usage ceased by December 28, 2010, when the next meter 186 

reading was recorded? 187 

A. No.  The reading on that date was 2304 CCF.9 188 

Q. Was gas consumption registered on the gas meter after the December 28, 189 

2010 date? 190 

A. Yes.  Monthly gas consumption continued through July 27, 2011, at which time the 191 

reading was 4171 CCF.  Further usage on the gas meter was not detected until July 192 

23, 2012, when the meter reading was 4372 CCF. 193 

Q. What actions did PGL take from December 28, 2010, through June 28, 2011? 194 

A. PGL continued writing letters to whoever was occupying the residence encouraging 195 

the occupant to contact PGL immediately to avoid disconnection of gas service.  As 196 

previously mentioned, one letter was sent on December 28, 2010.  An additional six 197 

9 Staff Exhibit 1.0, Attachment 3. 
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letters were sent on the following dates in 2011:  January 27, February 25, March 198 

30, April 28, May 26, and June 28. 199 

Q. Did PGL receive any responses to the letters requesting they be contacted? 200 

A. No.   201 

Q. Were any other actions taken by PGL during this time? 202 

A. The information provided to me by PGL did not indicate any further actions were 203 

taken beyond the letters written to encourage the person living at 9010 S. Normal to 204 

contact PGL to avoid disconnection of the gas service. 205 

Q. You state that June 28, 2011 was the last date a letter was sent to the 206 

residence.  What actions were taken after this date? 207 

A. PGL sent various employees to discontinue service at a secondary valve located 208 

outside the 9010 S. Normal residence near the sidewalk.  The valve is called a curb 209 

valve because it is typically located near the curb and the valve is located inside 210 

what PGL refers to as a b-box.   The b-box is nothing more than a short section of 211 

pipe material running vertically from the valve located below ground to the surface of 212 

the ground that allows access to the underground valve from ground level.   213 

Q. When was the first employee sent to this address to discontinue gas service?  214 

A. A PGL contract employee was sent to this location on November 1, 2011. 215 

Q. What actions did the PGL contractor take on November 1, 2011? 216 

A. Data request responses records provided by PGL stated that the contractor 217 

employee was on site and stated that the b-box may be located under bricks or 218 
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rocks.  Since the employee was unable to locate the b-box, the gas was not 219 

disconnected.10 220 

Q. Did PGL send another employee to this location after November 1, 2011? 221 

A. Yes.  On December 24, 2011, a second PGL contractor employee was sent to the 222 

location and was also unable to locate the b-box.  Again, since the employee was 223 

unable to locate the b-box, the gas was not disconnected. 224 

Q. What actions did PGL take next? 225 

A. On February 17, 2012, a PGL Field Service employee was sent to this location and 226 

was also unable to locate the b-box.  Since the employee was unable to locate the 227 

b-box, the gas was not disconnected. 228 

Q.  Did PGL take any additional actions to discontinue the service prior to the 229 

incident?  230 

A. On March 13, 2012, a fourth attempt to discontinue the service was made when a 231 

PGL Field Service employee was dispatched to this location.  The employee 232 

attempted to contact any individual who may be residing at this residence.  The 233 

employee indicated there was no response at the residence.  No further actions 234 

appear to have been taken by this employee to discontinue the gas service.   235 

Q. What actions did PGL take next? 236 

A. PGL took no further actions until July 23, 2012, when it was notified of an 237 

emergency fire at 9010 S. Normal Avenue.  Once PGL employees arrived on the 238 

scene at 9010 S. Normal, the curb valve was located and the valve was turned to 239 

10 Staff Exhibit 1.0, Attachment 3. 
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the closed position and a locking device installed in the b-box to prevent 240 

unauthorized access to the service line valve. 241 

Q. Could PGL explain why individuals that did not possess the ability to locate 242 

the valve continued to be assigned to discontinue the service?  243 

A. Yes. 244 

Q. What did PGL state? 245 

A. PGL stated a communication anomaly between two of their software systems 246 

resulted in a contractor and Field Service employees being dispatched who were 247 

unable to locate the b-box and discontinue service to 9010 S. Normal.  The anomaly 248 

was discovered in May 2012, independent of this incident.  PGL further stated that 249 

corrective actions to address the issue were initiated at the time it was discovered 250 

and are scheduled for testing.   251 

PGL stated that, due to the anomaly, the correct category of employee that should 252 

have originally been dispatched to 9010 S. Normal was a Distribution employee.  A 253 

Distribution employee has the capability to locate a b-box and discontinue gas 254 

service to the residence. 255 

PGL provided information on December 3, 2012, in response to a data request 256 

which discussed the above-mentioned software anomaly and stated that a 257 

Distribution employee should have originally been dispatched to 9010 S. Normal 258 

instead of a Field Service employee.  At this time, Staff has not been informed if the 259 

corrective actions were successful11. 260 

11 Staff Exhibit 1.0 Attachment 3. 
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Q. Did the gas meter indicate further usage since the last recorded usage on July 261 

27, 2011? 262 

A. No.  Gas usage was not indicated on the gas meter from July 27, 2011 until the day 263 

of the house explosion. 264 

Q. The last known usage reading on the gas meter was on July 27, 2011.  265 

Wouldn’t that indicate that the valve was once again preventing the flow of 266 

gas? 267 

A. No.  Before July 27, 2011, PGL had been made aware that gas usage was occurring 268 

on a gas meter that had a locking device inserted into the meter valve.  PGL had no 269 

way of knowing after July 27, 2011, if the valve had been opened and then closed or 270 

if the individual that received the letters requesting that PGL be contacted had 271 

managed to by-pass the meter so that the meter would no longer register the gas 272 

being used.  Without an on-site investigation, PGL had no way to know the condition 273 

of the facilities and why the gas suddenly stopped flowing through the meter. 274 

Q. Were PGL’s actions of sending the various letters to the occupant of the 275 

residence a satisfactory approach? 276 

A. No.  PGL was made aware through the increasing meter readings that someone was 277 

using gas at the residence.  PGL was also aware that a lock had been placed in the 278 

meter valve.  PGL should have taken actions to determine if someone had tampered 279 

with the gas meter and the locking device or if PGL’s facilities had failed.  With this 280 

knowledge, PGL should have taken adequate steps to immediately discontinue 281 

service. 282 
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49 C.F.R. §192.703 (b) requires an operator to repair, replace, or remove from 283 

service each segment of pipeline that becomes unsafe.   284 

Once PGL received indications that either unauthorized access to the meter set or a 285 

failure had occurred on their facilities, PGL should have taken prompt action to 286 

remove from service their facilities that had become unsafe. 287 

Q. Is unauthorized gas usage considered an emergency? 288 

A. Gas usage on a gas meter that has been known to have been discontinued and 289 

locked is the type of event that should be considered an emergency by PGL.  In this 290 

instance, PGL should have known that gas usage registering on one of their meters 291 

that was closed and locked is an abnormal operating condition.  This gas usage 292 

should have been a red flag that either facility failure or tampering had occurred.  293 

Without an investigation, PGL has no definitive way of knowing if a facility 294 

malfunction was the cause of the failure or if facility tampering had caused the 295 

failure.  In either case, the end result was that PGL’s facilities were allowing gas to 296 

flow and further action was required from PGL to protect those facilities and any 297 

area into which that gas was flowing. 298 

Q. What actions were required? 299 

A. 49 C.F.R. §192.615 (a) (1), (5), (6), and (7) contain certain requirements that should 300 

have taken place in this case. 301 

Q. What is required by 49 C.F.R. §192.615 (a) (1) and how does that compare to 302 

the actions taken by PGL? 303 

A. The requirement states “Each operator shall establish written procedures to 304 

minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency.  At a minimum, the 305 
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procedures must provide for the following:  Receiving, identifying, and classifying 306 

notices of events which require immediate response by the operator.”  307 

PGL identified this gas usage as an event, although it doesn’t appear PGL 308 

considered this an event equivalent to the level of an emergency.  PGL did receive 309 

AMR readings indicating there was gas usage.  However, PGL failed to adequately 310 

classify this gas usage as an emergency and take immediate actions to stop the 311 

unauthorized gas usage. 312 

Q. What is required by 49 C.F.R. §192.615 (a) (5) and how does that compare to 313 

the actions taken by PGL? 314 

A. The requirement states “Each operator shall establish written procedures to 315 

minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency.  At a minimum, the 316 

procedures must provide for the following:  Actions directed toward protecting people 317 

first and then property.” 318 

PGL sent letters to the residence requesting the occupant to contact PGL to avoid 319 

disconnection of service.  Only once gas usage had stopped being indicated did 320 

PGL dispatch employees to disconnect the gas service, but those attempts to 321 

discontinue service were unsuccessful.   322 

The actions taken by PGL were neither appropriate nor adequate to protect people 323 

and property.   324 

Q. What is required by 49 C.F.R. §192.615 (a) (6) and how does that compare to 325 

the actions taken by PGL? 326 

A. The requirement states “Each operator shall establish written procedures to 327 

minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. At a minimum, the 328 
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procedures must provide for the following:  Emergency shutdown and pressure 329 

reduction in any section of the operator's pipeline system necessary to minimize 330 

hazards to life or property.” 331 

PGL was made aware that their meter on a segment of their pipeline was operating 332 

when their records indicated that segment of the pipeline was previously shut down.  333 

The actions taken by PGL were to send letters to the residence encouraging the 334 

occupant to contact PGL to avoid disconnection of the gas service. They received no 335 

response to the letters and had no way of knowing if the letters had been received or 336 

if the residential structure was occupied.  Further actions of sending employees, who 337 

were not equipped to perform the necessary task, to discontinue gas service from 338 

outside the residence, were unsuccessful.  When the attempts to disconnect the gas 339 

service were unsuccessful, PGL ceased to take any actions to shut down the 340 

pipeline.   341 

Q. What is required by 49 C.F.R. §192.615 (a) (7) and how does that compare to 342 

the actions taken by PGL? 343 

A. The requirement states “Each operator shall establish written procedures to 344 

minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. At a minimum, the 345 

procedures must provide for the following:  Making safe any actual or potential 346 

hazard to life or property.” 347 

Once PGL was made aware that service to a customer, which had been previously 348 

disconnected for nonpayment and locked in the off position by a PGL employee, was 349 

in service, PGL should have taken prompt actions to inspect the facility or lock the 350 

facility off using the curb valve.  When gas usage was initially detected, PGL had no 351 
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way of knowing why that was occurring.  The gas usage could have been due to gas 352 

consumption via a furnace, water heater, or other gas appliance.  Or, the gas 353 

consumption could have been due to a failed valve on PGL’s facility.  The hazard 354 

potential was present, but PGL failed to take adequate and appropriate actions to 355 

resolve the potential hazard. 356 

Q. Please summarize your testimony thus far. 357 

A. PGL disconnected gas service at 9010 S. Normal Avenue on May 10, 2010, for 358 

nonpayment.  The gas service was disconnected on May 10, 2010 by closing the 359 

valve on PGL’s side of the gas meter inside the residence and installing a locking 360 

device to prevent unauthorized usage.  On November 23, 2010, PGL discovered 361 

through increased meter readings, that usage was occurring on a gas meter that 362 

was known to be turned off and locked.  Beginning on December 28, 2010, and 363 

continuing through June 28, 2011, gas usage was indicated through AMR readings.  364 

In response to the gas usage, PGL sent a total of seven letters encouraging the 365 

occupant of the residence to contact PGL to avoid disconnection of service.  Once 366 

gas usage was no longer occurring on the gas meter, according to AMR readings, 367 

PGL began sending employees to discontinue the gas service outside the residence.  368 

PGL sent various employees on four separate occasions to discontinue gas service 369 

at the curb valve.  All four attempts were unsuccessful.  No further actions were 370 

taken by PGL until the day of the house explosion. Finally, on July 23, 2012, after 371 

the incident PGL disconnected the gas service by closing the curb valve and 372 

installing a locking device. 373 

Q. What penalties may be assessed against Peoples? 374 
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A. 49 U.S.C. § 60122, adopted by Section 7 of the Illinois Act,12 allows for civil 375 

penalties of not more than $200,000 for each violation per day, for a maximum of 376 

$2,000,000 per violation. Both the Illinois and the federal statute state that each day 377 

the violation persists is also a separate violation.13 378 

Q. In this situation, what would be considered a violation? 379 

A. Each day gas usage was detected on the inactive account at 9010 S. Normal 380 

Avenue and adequate actions to discontinue service were not taken should be a 381 

separate violation of the requirement established in 49 C.F.R. §192.703 (b) (“Each 382 

segment of pipeline that becomes unsafe must be replaced, repaired, or removed 383 

from service.).  Additionally, each day PGL failed to properly shutdown the pipeline 384 

to make safe any potential hazards to life or property should be a separate violation 385 

of the requirements established in 49 C.F.R. §192. 615 (a) (1), (5), (6), and (7), 386 

respectively.  PGL was made aware that gas was flowing through the meter on 387 

November 23, 2010, and failed to take appropriate action until the house explosion 388 

occurred on July 23, 2012.   389 

Q. What do you consider an appropriate penalty considering the gravity of this 390 

violation? 391 

A.  PGL’s continued disregard and failure to take appropriate and necessary actions to 392 

properly discontinue service to 9010 S. Normal Avenue from November 23, 2010 393 

through July 23, 2012, constitute a separate violation each day for each section of 394 

49 C.F.R. that was violated (listed above).  PGL exposed any possible residents of 395 

12 220 ILCS 20/7. 
13 49 U.S.C.A. § 60122(a); 220 ILCS 20/7(a). 
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the 9010 S. Normal building, any neighbors of that building, emergency responders 396 

and the public in general to the possibility of a fire and explosion each and every day 397 

of that period of time.  That happened over a period of many months, each day with 398 

knowledge that there was every possibility that they were watching the creation of a 399 

potential bomb.  Those actions constitute irresponsible and inexcusable behavior.  400 

Staff recommends the maximum penalty be imposed for the violations of 49 C.F.R. 401 

§192.615 (a) (1), (5), (6), (7) and 49 C.F.R. §192.703 (b).  Civil penalties in the 402 

amount of $1,785,000 should be assessed.  In addition to the civil penalty, PGL 403 

should review their policies and procedures to be implemented when unauthorized 404 

gas usage is detected.  Revisions should be implemented if the actions outlined in 405 

the policies and procedures fail to immediately identify the source of the 406 

unauthorized usage and ensure that no hazard exists. 407 

Q. Please explain how the civil penalty in the amount of $1,785,000 was 408 

calculated? 409 

A. PGL violated five separate sections of 49 C.F.R.  The penalty for each violation is 410 

$357,000.  The five violations together amount to the $1,785,000.  Staff took in 411 

consideration when determining this amount, the duration the violations existed, the 412 

gravity of the violations, the potential hazard of the violations, and the good faith 413 

effort PGL has taken in addressing the violations.   414 

Q. Does this conclude your prepared direct testimony? 415 

A. Yes, it does. 416 
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	49 C.F.R. §192.703 (b) requires an operator to repair, replace, or remove from service each segment of pipeline that becomes unsafe.
	Once PGL received indications that either unauthorized access to the meter set or a failure had occurred on their facilities, PGL should have taken prompt action to remove from service their facilities that had become unsafe.
	PGL identified this gas usage as an event, although it doesn’t appear PGL considered this an event equivalent to the level of an emergency.  PGL did receive AMR readings indicating there was gas usage.  However, PGL failed to adequately classify this ...
	PGL sent letters to the residence requesting the occupant to contact PGL to avoid disconnection of service.  Only once gas usage had stopped being indicated did PGL dispatch employees to disconnect the gas service, but those attempts to discontinue se...
	The actions taken by PGL were neither appropriate nor adequate to protect people and property.
	PGL was made aware that their meter on a segment of their pipeline was operating when their records indicated that segment of the pipeline was previously shut down.  The actions taken by PGL were to send letters to the residence encouraging the occupa...
	Once PGL was made aware that service to a customer, which had been previously disconnected for nonpayment and locked in the off position by a PGL employee, was in service, PGL should have taken prompt actions to inspect the facility or lock the facili...

